STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Before the Court is the consolidated equalization appeals of Kansas Star Casino, 

L.L.C. ("Kansas Star" or "Taxpayer") concerning its real property in Sumner County, 

Kansas for the tax years 2016 and 20 17. The subject property is a casino and arena events 

center situated on approximately 195.5 acres located in Mulvane, Kansas (the ''Subject 

Property"). The valuation dates in issue are January 1, 2016 and January 1, 2017. The 

parties agreed that the County bore the burden of proof. 

Sumner County (the "County") classified the entire parcel as commercial and 

industrial real estate and valued the Subject Property at $168.3 million for 2016 and $172 

miilion for 2017, based upon "mass appraisals" performed by Richard Jortberg 

("Jortberg"). R. Vol. 17, Exs. 671, 672. Jortberg valued the Subject Property at $-170 

million for 2016 and $171 million for 2017. R. Vol. ?0, Exs. 326, 327, R. Vol. I (part 1) 

_p. 162, Joint Stipulated Facts ,i,i 39, 40. The County also called Leslie Sellers, a review 

appraiser, and Dwight Percy, a business advising consultant~ as expert witnesses. 

Taxpayer called Robin Marx ("Marx") and Robert Jackson ("Jackson") of Bliss 

Associates appraisal firm ( collectively "Bliss" or "Bliss Appraisers") to appraise the 

Subject Property. Bliss valued the Subject Property at $77,650,000 for 2016 and 

$77,600,000 for 2017. Bliss prepared a combtned appn~isal report for both tax years. R. 

Vol. 60, Ex. 356. The value of -the remaining agricultural area (assuming proper 

classification as land devoted to agricultural use) is stipulated to have a property tax value 

of $9,000, for a total value of $77,659,000 for 2016 and $77,609,000 for 2017. R. Vol. 1 

(part 1) p. 163, Joint Stipulated Facts ,i 47. 
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Additional testifying witnesses included Scott Schroeder ("Schroeder"), the , 

Director of Finance for the Kansas Star Casino, and Cory Morowitz ("Morowitz"), a casino 

gaming industry expert and consultant. 

BOTA essentially adopted the Bliss cost approach, except that it reduced the 

depreciation associated with the arena by one-third and determined that only 63.5 acres, 

rather than 76.13 acres, were devoted to agricultural use. BOTA valued the Subject 

Property at $102,659,000 for tax year 2016 and $102,609,000 for tax year 2017. 

ISSUE ON APPEAL 

Morowitz opined that the arena was 100% obsolete. He arrived at this opinion, in 

part; because the ratio of arena seats to gaming positions is three times higher than the 

average of similar casinos. BOTA incorrectly interpreted that step in his analysis for an 

opinion that the arena was only two-thirds overbuilt. Did BOTA err by reducing Bliss's 

arena depreciation by one-third based only on this fact? 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The Subject Property 

Kansas Star is the lottery gaming facility manager for the south central gaming zone 

pursuant to the Kansas Expanded Lottery Act ("KELA"). See K.S.A. 74-8733, et seq. 

Kansas Star owns the Subject Property and operates it as the Kansas Star Casino and Arena 

Events Center. The Subject Property consists of a combination of two land tracts, known 

as the Wyant and Gerlach Tracts. (R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, pp. 24-25.) The tracts are outlined 

in this aerial photograph: 
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(id.) 

The Subject Property is Jocated in the city of Mulvane, which is in Sumner County. 

While the land is in Mulvane' s city limits, this is only because the underlying land was 

annexed during the casino proposal process. In reality, the land is in a rural, undeveloped 

area twenty minutes south of Wichita and eight miles west of Mulvane. (R. Vol. 1 (part 1) 

pp. l 59-1 60, Joint Stipulated Facts,~ 23.) The area around the Land is sparsely populated 

and is largely used for fanning. The improved property is depicted in th is aerial 

photograph: 
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(R. Vol. 48, p. 8651, Ex. 28.) 

The original combined size or the Wyant and Gerlach lracls was 201.2 acres. Upon 

re-platting of the property for purposes of the planned use development (''PUD1
'), the size 

of the combined tract was measured at approximately 197 .5 acres. The remaining I 97 .5 

acres was divided by the County into two parcels: 195 .3 1 acres for lhc main parcel, and 

approximately 2 acres for an EMS slat ion. Both parties agree that the two acres devoted to 

the EMS stat ion do not contribute value to the Subject Property. (R. Vol. 1 (part 1) p. 1601 

Joint Stipulated Facts. ,J 24; R. Vol. 3, Ex. 327, p. 54; R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. BLfSS_0023.) 

Of the 195.31 acre main parcel subject to valuation, approximately 63.5 acres was 

directly used for the production of agricultural crops during the calendar years 2016 and 
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2017. (R. Vol. 48, Ex. 26.) The remaining acreage is utilized for commercial purposes 

( either directly or as drainage area supporting the commercial-use acreage). 

Other than the two driveways depicted in Ex. 28, above, the Wyant tract is enfdre!y 

unimproved. R. Vol. 48, p. 8651, Ex. 28. The 195.31 acres held by Kansas Star is more 

than is necessary for operation of a casino, including all potentially-profitable amenities 

and ancillary developments. At the time Kansas Star acquired the total site, Kansas Star 

planned to utilize the excess land (land not needed,for direct support of the casino) for RV 

park(s), a maintenance building, livestock feed and supply improvements, and other 

commercial development. (R. Vol. 3, Ex. 327, p. 12; R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, pp. BLISS_ 41, 

114.) As it turns out, the anticipated additional commercial development never became 

reality. There remains no co~ercial development in the area other than the casino and 

the nex,t-door winery (Brewer Tract), which pre-dated the construction of the casino. 

Despite the availability of ample vacant land for development on and around the 

casino site, the casino operation has spurred no additional commercial development. 

Neither the RV park, nor the maintenance and livestock buildings were ever constructed in 

the future development areas. (R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, pp. BLISS_36, 40, 44.) In fact, the 

original arena and equine event center plan proved to be unprofitable, and Kansas Star 

negotiated with the Kansas Lottery to amend its management contract to allow for the 

Phase 2 funds to be shifted away from additional arena investment. (R. Vol. 1 (part 1) pp. 

160-161, Joint Stipulated Facts, ,r 28.) Instead, Kansas Star used those committed funds to 

build conference space, which was ultimately constructed before the valuation date in 
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issue. (id.) All of the land that \Vas purchased for planned foturc development is currently 

leased for fanning. (R. Vol. 48, Ex. 26.) 

The Improvements 

The Subject Property's casino and arena improvements arc located entirely on the 

Gerlach Tract. 

(R. Vol. 3, Ex. 327, p. 14.) 

The arena is shown in the ucrial photo as the brown-roofed bui I ding on the south 

end of the improved building area. The white-roofed building to the north and west of the 

arena is the permanent casino. 1 The smaller white-roofed area on the east side of the 

1 The brown-roofed structure to the cast of the permanent casino is a hoteL which is part of a separate tax parcel and 
not in issue in this matter. 
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improvements between the arena and casino is the conference center. (R. Vol. 3, Ex. 327, 

p. 15.) 

The arena building is 162,622 square feet with a maximum seating capacity in 

concert mode of 6,596. (R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. BLISS_23; R. Vol. 1 (part 1) p. 161, Joint 

Stipulated Facts, ,i 33.) The casino is 164,790 square feet. (R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. 

BLISS_23.) The remaining buildings consist of the conference center (22,772 sf), the 

equine stall/ riding arena building (57,640 sf), and the maintenance building (6,000 sf). (R. 

Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. BLISS_23.) 

The Subject Property improvements were constructed in three phases. Phase la was 

the construction of the arena with the temporary casino finishes; Phase l b was the 

construction of the permanent casino and conversion of the arena from the temporary 

casino to the permanent a,rena; and Phase 2 was the downsized equestrian facilities and 

conference center, (R. Vol. 1 (part l) pp. 160-161, Joint Stipulated Facts W 27-28; R. Vol. 

60, Ex. 356, pp. BLISS_25-26.) 

Casino and A.r~na Operations 

The :arena was originally built and outfitted as a temporary casino. The temporary 

casino operated on the arena floor beginning on December 26, 2011. (R. Vol. 1 (part l) p. 

160, Joint Stipulated Facts, ii 27; R. Vol. 48, Exs. 74-77.) The temporary casino operated 

in the arena for, essentially, the calendar year 2012. (R. Vol.. l (part 1) p. 160, Joint 

Stipulated Facts, if 27 .) 

Construction of the permanent casino building was completed at the end of 2012, 

and the casino operations moved into the permanent casino building by January 2013. (R. 
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Vol. 1 _(part 1) p . 160, Joint Stipulated Facts, ~ 27.) The arena was converted from the 

temporary casino set-up to the permanent arena configuration during the first half of 2013. 

The first event, a Daughtry concert, was held on June 29, 2013. (R. Vol. I (part 1) p. 160, 

Joint Stipulated Facts,~ 27.) 

Modified Phase 2 construction was completed in January 1, 2015. (R. Vol. 1 (part 

1) p. 161, Joint Stipulated Facts~ 29.) 

The Arena 

The arena component of the Subject Property is not profitable. (R. Vol. 62, pp. 369-

377.) Overall, the arena suffered a $160,063 operating loss (not including additional losses 

from comped tic}<ets) in calendar year 2015 and a $211,943 operating loss in 2016. (R. 

Vol. 60, Ex. 348.) The operating loss is simply the total of the losses on the individual 

events held. It does not account for fixed overhead expenses, such as general advertising, 

maintenance, utilities, etc. (R. Vol. 62, pp. 372-373, 397-398.) The total losses associated 

with the arena, including fixed overhead expenses, were substantially more than the 

operating losses. (R. Vol. 62, pp. 390-391.) 

The arena is fundamentally incompatible with Kansas Star's gaming operations. 

While the full capacity of the arena is 6,596, Kansas Star now only marketc; half-house 

shows (3,446 seats) and smaller. (R. Vol. 62, pp. 393.:394_) Large events deterred high-end 

players from visiting the casino because it caused full parking lots, long lines, and big 

crowds. (R. Vol. 62, pp. 394, 520-521, 535.) Use of the full capacity of the arena not only 

results in operating losses for the arena; it also detracts from the profitability of the casino. 
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This causes the arena to be underutilized, sitting vacant approximately 90 percent of the 

time. (R. Vol. 60, Ex. 353, p . 36.) 

The original equine events focus for the arena has also borne no fruit. Equine events 

are even bigger money-losers than concerts and other entertainment events. (R. Vol. 62, p. 

3 81.) As a result, Kansas Star negotiated a repurposing of its Phase 2 construction spending 

with the Kansas Lottery. In short, Kansas Star remained obligated to spend the same 

\ 

amount of money, but scaled back its permanent equine facilities (practice arenas and 

permanent stalls) in favor of conference spaces to promote smaller events. Kansas Star is 

open to hosting more equine events, but has not had success attracting such events. (R. Vol. 

62, pp. 376,378, 381-382.) 

Further still, the Kansas Star Arena is competing .in a saturated arena market and at 

a major competitive disadvantage with respect to its location. The Kansas Star Arena is 

one of four arenas in the Wichita area, which includes the Intrust Bank Arena, the Century 

II Convention Center in downtown Wichita, and Hartman Arena just north of Wichita. (R. 

Vol. 62, pp. 391-392.) All of the other arenas in the area are closer to the Wichita 

population base than Kansas Star. Schroeder explained that this competition for 

entertainment dollars puts Kansas Star's arena in a difficult competitive position. For 

example, Schroeder described a Wynona Judd event that was scheduled for December 21, 

2015. (R. Vol. 62, p. 392.) He stated that ticket sales were strong initially, but then Intrust 

Bank Arena announced Garth Brooks concerts for-early December 2015. (Id) That event 

soaked up the entertainment dollars from the area, and stifled Wynona Judd ticket sales. 
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(Id) The Intrust Bank Arena is the premier event venue in the area, making it very difficult 
{ 

for the Kansas Star Arena to.compete on a staod-alon~ basis. 

Schroeder testified that he would not build the arena in order to maximize profits. 

(R. Vol. 62, p. 4 11.) 

Overall Operations (Arena and Casino) 

Revenue and expense information for the total facility (casino and arena) for 2012 

through 2016 is provided in this table: 

· 20 12 · ·20 13 2014 201 5 · 20 16 . 
Revenues 

Gaming $182,923,000 $192,391,000 $178,283,000 $183,146,000 $179;893,000 
. Food & Be-.,_,,~~ $S174S,OOO Si 1,441,000 $11,628,(?00 $11,766,000 )11,822,000. 
.OthEI' $1;9791000 .· S3.62a:<>oo $4,157,000 $4,750,000 $4,753.000 

Gross Revenues $ ,190,64 7,0 0(! s207,4&~,ooo $194,0 68,000 $ 199,662,00 0 $ 196,468,000 
less Piomolional allciV.:ances $2,665,000 $4,6061000 ·$51273,000 $3:994,000 $4,060.000 

Net Rr_v.,nun $ 187,962,000. $202,854,000 $ 188, 795;000 $ 195,668,000 $ 192,408,000 

Cost and Expenses· 
Operating Cost, & upi:n;cs 

Gaming $70,398,000 $77,943,000 $72,863,000 $74,318,0o,;J $!4,46_5,000 
f-ood&Be\9'• $3,984,000 $8,813,000 $7,922,000 $8,228,000 $8,516,000 
'Qther $267,000 $1,912,000 $2,169,000 Si;396,000 $1,337,000 
Sdling. General & Admln. '$1S,S26,000 $22,892,000 $18,681,000 $19,977,000 $19,629,000 
Main~~ance & Uliliti~ $2,132,000 $3,344,000 ' ~3,400,000 $3,523,000 $3,;~s.ooo 
~liabf Managerrient Fee $3,071,000 $8,357,000 $7,914,000 $8,~64,000 $8,057,000 
,Pn~>pening_~~ $1,086,000 $91,000 $168,000 $280,000 5244,000 
~ Trilnsaction Cost $5,000 $1,601,000 s21 1;090 so. $0 
Olher'Ope(atlngltems $0 -$951000. -n2s,ooo $192,000 . S:?731000 

Total Operating Costs & Expenses $96,469,000 $ 124~858,000 $113,0 23,000 .$116,178,000 $ 1 t 6,22,,0 00 
Net Income $91,493,000 $_77,996,~00 $15,772,000 $79,490;000. $76, 182~0D0 

(R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. BLISS_l 20.) Revenues were relatively flat from 2012 through 

2014. However, during that time period, real estate construction spending increased 

dramatically. This table reflects the construction costs for the in-place real estate assets for 

each year: 

IO 
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Total Net % Total Net % Construction % 

Year Revenue Change Income Change Cost (1) Change 
2012 $187,962,000 S91,493,000 S57,386,S37 

2013 $202,854,000 7.9% $77,996,000 -14,8% $113,245,831 97.3't 
2014 $188,795,000 -6.9% $75,772,000 -2.9% $113,245,631 0.0% 

2015 $195,668,000 3.6% $79,490,000 4.9% S 135,622,576 19.8% 
2016 $192,408,000 -1.7~ $76,182,000 -4.2% S 135,622,576 0.0% 

(I) The Construction c:ost shown r~resents the cost of the existing impro\'ertlents that were in 
operation during the -,ear, which includes the "Temporary" casino impro\.ements present in 
2012 but not present for 2013 and 2014, as they were removed at that time, 
with the building converted to it~ current Arena use in June of 2013. 

(R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. BLISS_ ] 08.) 

This ch art shows the ris ing conslruction cosls alongside essentially flat revenues 

from when the temporary casino opened through 20 I 6, which includes about two full years 

of operation with the full buildout Phase 2 improvements in place: 

Construction Cost. Net Revenue & Net lnrnme Compcrison 
-construction Casts -a- Net Revenue - Net Income 

S220,DOO,OOO 

5200,000,000 

5180,000.000 

$160,000,000 

$140,000.000 

SI 20,000,000 

$100.000,000 

.:::---------= •--..........:::-.... ~---:7¼-----_------- ... 

$60,000,000 

$60,000,000 

S40,000,000 

Sl0,000,000 

so 
2012 2013 2014 2015 201', 

(R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. BLJSS_ l 15.) Market demand was effectively satiated by the 

temporary casino, and additional construction resulted in no revenue gain. ln fact, to the 

extent Lhat any trends can be discerned. U1ere appears l o be an inverse relationship between 

1 1 
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revenue and real estate construction. This chart shows monthly gaming revenue on a rolling 

12-month basis for the property: 

Kansas Star Trailing 12 Month Gaming Revenue 
jt00.000,000 

$US,000,000 

S190,000,000 

$m,ooo,ooo 

$180.000,000 

Sns.000,000 

S 1,0.000.000 

Sus,000,000 

Pcnn.ancol 
facility opem 

T~mpor.uy 
f3cihty con\·~rrNI 

tom-~ 

Source: Kansas Radng and Gaming Commission/Morowitz Gaming Advisors 

(R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. B'LISS_ l l 0.) Revenue peaked about the lime that the arena opened 

in the summer of 2013. then fell steadi ly after that, and leveled off in 20 15. While it seems 

counterintuitive that additional amenities would cause a loss of revenue, both Morowitz 

and Schroeder tesli fied that large arena event days tended to crowd out the most lucrative. 

high-end gamers in favor of casual gamers. This resulted in lower revenue on event days 

versus non-event days. (R. Vol. 62, pp. 394, 520-52 L 535.) 

Even worse, proiilability, measured in EBTTDA, fell as a result of the real estate 

overbuilding. Even though revenues were relatively flat, the construction ofthe permanent 

casino effectively doubled the square footage of the total facility. resulting in higher 

overhead costs. This increased expense caused EBlTDA lo foll from $91.5 million in 2012 

to $79.5 mi llion in 2015 and $76.2 mil lion in 20 16. (R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, p. BLISS_ 120.) 
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Kansas Star's business operations were more profitable while operating the 

temporary casino in the arena than operating both the arena and the permanent casino. Even 

though revenues were relatively flat in the permanent casino, profitability declined due to 

increased costs associated with operating a larger than necessary facility. The presence of, 

and costs associated with, the arena were a drain on profitability. Kansas Star would have 

been more successful if the arena had never been built. 

The Experts 

Bliss's Appraisal 

Robin Marx, MAI, and Robert Jackson have appraised properties for property tax 

purposes and appeared before BOTA in the past. Working for both taxpayers and taxing 

jurisdictions, they have developed an excellent track record of unbiased and credible 

appraisals. They have appraised many special purpose properties in the past. (R.. Vol. 63, 

pp. 611-614.) Bliss performed cost and income approaches to value. However, BOTA 

adopted the Bliss cost approach, with modifications, so only that approach is detailed here. 

Bliss, s cost approaches for both tax years included a replacement cost analysis, land 

value analysis, and an obsolescence/depreciation analysis. (R. Vol. 60, Ex. 356, pp. 

BLISS _97-118, 130-151.) 

For their land value analyses, the Bliss appraisers looked at the five available casino

site land transactions in Kansas, consisting of sales of the two tracts comprising the subject, 

the two tracts comprising the Boot Hill Casino site, and the Hollywood Casino site. (R. 

Vol. 60, Ex. 356, pp. BLISS_97-102, 130-135.) The unadjusted sale prices ranged from 

$10,391 to $215,919 per acre with a median of $77,042. After adjusting for various market 
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factors, Bliss' s adjusted sales range was $73,190 to $78,995 with a median of$75,572. (R. 

Vol. 60, Ex. 356, pp. BLISS_l0l-102, 134-135.) Bliss concluded to a land value for the 

121.18 commercial-use acres of $76,60.0 per acre, or $9.3 million total for both tax years . . 
(R Vol. 60, Ex. 356, pp. BLISS_l02, 135.) Jackson testified that this value was reasonable 

in light of the Gerlach tract purchase price at $8.9 million (inclusive of the Foxwoods 

option- payment) because the improved commercial area is essentially within the 

boundaries of the former Gerlach Tract. (R. Vol. 63, pp. 636-640.) The stipulated value of 

the remaining agricultural-use acreage is $9,000. (R. Vol. 1 (part 1) p. 163, Joint Stipulated 

Facts ,r 47.)

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