**No. 18-119438-A**

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS**

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE EQUALIZATION APPEAL OF KANSAS STAR CASINO, L.L.C.  
FOR THE YEAR 2016 IN SUMNER COUNTY, KANSAS

IN THE MATTER OF THE EQUALIZATION APPEAL OF KANSAS STAR CASINO, L.L.C.  
FOR THE YEAR 2017 IN SUMNER COUNTY, KANSAS

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE AND BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE BOARD OF TAX APPEAL NOS.  
2016-2148-EQ, 2016-2149-EQ, 2017-3172-EQ, AND 2017-3173-EQ**

---

**Andrew D. Holder, #25456  
FISHER, PATTERSON, SAYLER & SMITH, L.L.P.  
3550 S.W. 5th Street  
Topeka, KS 66606  
Office: (785) 232-7761 - Fax: (785) 232-6604

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

## ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

### I. Standard of Review.

Decisions by the Board of Tax Appeals (“BOTA”) are governed by the Kansas Judicial Review Act, K.S.A. 77-601 *et seq.* A decision by BOTA is in error if:

“(i) [BOTA] has erroneously interpreted or applied the law, K.S.A. 77-621(c)(4); (ii) [BOTA] has engaged in an unlawful procedure or has failed to follow prescribed procedure, K.S.A. 77-621(c)(5); (iii) [BOTA’s] action is based on a determination of fact, made or implied by [BOTA] that is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the record as a whole, K.S.A. 77-621(c)(7); or (iv) the [BOTA] action is otherwise unreasonable, arbitrary, or capricious, K.S.A. 77-621(c)(8).”

*In re Brocato*, 46 Kan.App.2d 722, 727, 277 P.3d 1135 (2011).

Appraisal practice is governed by the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”). *In re Johnson Cnty. Appraiser/Privitera Realty Holdings*, 47 Kan.App.2d 1074, 1075, Syll. ¶ 9, 283 P.3d 823 (2012). “These standards are embodied in the statutory scheme of valuation, and a failure by BOTA to adhere to them may constitute a deviation from a prescribed procedure or an error of law.” *Saline Cty. Bd. of Cty. Comm’rs v. Jensen*, 32 Kan.App.2d 730, 735, 88 P.3d 242 (2004). Put differently, “BOTA cannot apply a methodology the appraisers themselves could not.” *In re Kansas Star Casino, L.L.C. for Tax Year 2014*, 2018 WL 2749734 at \*21 (Kan. Ct. App. June 8, 2018) (unpublished) (“*Kansas Star 2014*”)

BOTA’s decision also constitutes reversible error if it is based on a determination of fact,

made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by evidence that is substantial in light of the record as a whole. K.S.A. 77-621(c)(7). “Substantial competent evidence possesses both relevance and substance and provides a substantial basis of fact from which the issues can be reasonably determined.” *Frick Farm Properties v. Kan. Dept. of Ag.*, 289 Kan. 690, 709, 216 P.3d 170 (2009).

“In light of the record as a whole” means:

“the adequacy of the evidence in the record before the court to support a particular finding of fact shall be judged in light of all the relevant evidence in the record cited by any party that detracts from such finding as well as all of the relevant evidence in the record, compiled pursuant to K.S.A. 77-620, and amendments thereto, cited by any party that supports such finding, including any determinations of veracity by the presiding officer who personally observed the demeanor of the witness and the agency's explanation of why the relevant evidence in the record supports its material findings of fact.”

K.S.A. 77-621(d).

“Arbitrary” means “without adequate determining principal; not done or acting according to reason or judgment.” *Eureka Building & Loan Ass'n v. Myers*, 147 Kan. 609, 78 P.2d 68 (1938). “Flipping a coin, for example, would be incompatible with weighing evidence or drawing conclusions necessary to support ... [the] decision. That would be true without regard to the soundness of the outcome, and a court would act within its authority to vacate the result as arbitrary.” *Rural Water Dist. #2 v. Miami Cnty. Bd. of Cnty. Com'rs*, 2012 WL 309165 (Kan. Ct. App. 2012) (unpublished). “Capricious” means “changing apparently without regard to any laws.” *Id.*; *Zinke & Trumbo, Ltd. v. State Corp. Comm'n of State of Kan.*, 242 Kan. 470, 475, 749 P.2d 21 (1988). An administrative order is reasonable if it is supported by substantial competent evidence. *Bluestem Tel. Co. v. Kansas Corp. Comm'n*, 52 Kan. App. 2d 96, 121, 363 P.3d 1115, 1131 (2015). Conversely, an order is arbitrary and capricious if it is unreasonable or without foundation in fact. *Citizens' Utility Ratepayer Bd. v. Kansas Corporation Comm'n*, 47 Kan. App. 2d 1112, 1124, 284 P.3d 348 (2012).

**II. BOTA's depreciation analysis does not comport with USPAP, is unsupported by substantial, competent evidence and should be reversed.**

As this Court is aware, tax appeals involving the Kansas Star Casino have become an “annual event.” *In re Kansas Star Casino, L.L.C. for Tax Year 2015*, 2018 WL 3486173, \*1 (Kan. Ct. App. 2018) (unpublished). This is partly because the parties “have polar opposite views about whether the improvements on Kansas Star’s property are superadequate.” *See id.* at \*13. But, another seemingly constant issue is BOTA’s failure to apply a depreciation analysis that comports with USPAP and is supported by substantial competent evidence.

A chronological review of the events leading to BOTA’s decision is explanatory. In September 2016, BOTA issued a full and complete decision in Kansas Star’s appeal for tax year 2015. As to functional obsolescence, BOTA held:

“The evidence shows that the arena, convention center, and equine center do not contribute to the overall profit of the subject property. In fact, they detract from it. Therefore, some allowance should be given to account for this economic obsolescence. Mr. Jackson’s report indicated that the arena was over built by two thirds; consequently, the 52% economic obsolescence figure used by Mr. Jackson, should be reduced by a third to 35%.”

*See Kansas Star 2015*, 2018 WL 3486173 at \*9.

Both parties appealed, arguing that BOTA’s decision was neither USPAP-compliant nor supported by substantial competent evidence. As the 2015 appeal progressed, BOTA conducted a joint hearing for tax years 2016 and 2017, beginning in October 2017. The parties relied on same appraisers, who expressed nearly identical opinions.

On May 1, 2018, BOTA issued its full and complete opinion for 2016-2017, which adopted the depreciation analysis from its 2015 decision in whole:

“While the Board finds the substantial credible evidence supports Bliss’ general determination of significant economic obsolescence in this relatively new development, we do, however, find that Bliss’ 52% total economic obsolescence determination overshoots the target. Following our derivation of economic obsolescence in the prior tax year’s decision, the Board finds that a total economic

obsolescence of 35% is proper for the tax years in issue.”

R. Vol. I (Part 2), pp.178-179.

A little over a month later, this Court decided *Kansas Star 2015*. The Court held BOTA’s 2015 analysis (1) was not supported by the evidence, and (2) was not USPAP-compliant. *See Kansas Star 2015*, 2018 WL 3486173 at \*15-16. More specifically, in 2015 BOTA based its decision on the incorrect premise that Bliss concluded the arena was two-thirds overbuilt. *See id.* at \*15. But, as this Court recognized, that conclusion was erroneous because the only person to express that opinion was gaming advisor Cory Morowitz, who is not an appraiser. *See id.*

BOTA’s decision for 2016-2017 is particularly flawed because unlike in 2015, in 2016-2017, no witness (including Morowitz) testified the arena was two-thirds overbuilt. The complete lack of factual evidence supporting BOTA’s decision, alone, merits reversal. *See e.g., Frick Farm Properties*, 289 Kan. at 709 (“Substantial competent evidence possesses both relevance and substance and provides a substantial basis of fact from which the issues can be reasonably determined.”).

Perhaps more importantly, however, in *Kansas Star 2015*, the Court recognized “there [is] no evidence that BOTA’s methodology of comparing Kansas Star’s seats-per-gaming position to casino/arena gaming enterprises in competitive markets was an appropriate method for measuring depreciation.” 2018 WL 3486173 at \*15. *Kansas Star 2015* is directly on point. As this Court has already recognized, if either party had suggested that superadequacy could be measured by comparing seats-per-gaming position, that methodology would have been challenged as a violation of USPAP. BOTA can no more apply a non-USPAP compliant methodology than could the parties. *See Kansas Star 2014*, 2018 WL 2749734 at \*16 (“BOTA cannot apply a methodology the appraisers themselves could not.”); *Kansas Star 2015*, 2018 WL 2748748 at \*16 (“BOTA misapplied the law when it failed to comply with USPAP in calculating functional obsolescence.”);

*Jensen*, 32 Kan. App. 2d at 735 (“[USPAP] standards are embodied in the statutory scheme of valuation, and a failure by BOTA to adhere to them may constitute a deviation from a prescribed procedure or an error of law.”). BOTA’s depreciation analysis does not comport with USPAP, is not supported by substantial competent evidence, and should be reversed.

**III. Appellant’s claim that the ancillary facilities are 100 percent superadequate is erroneous and should not be adopted.**

While Sumner County agrees that BOTA’s decision requires reversal, Sumner County continues to dispute Appellant’s contention that its ancillary facilities are 100 percent superadequate. As this Court has previously recognized, the parties have “polar opposite views” on this issue. *See Kansas Star 2015*, 2018 WL 3486173 at \*13. This Court has also previously concluded that even where BOTA fails to adopt an appropriate depreciation analysis, “it is not [the Court’s] role to calculate functional obsolescence. Rather, remand to BOTA for further proceedings is appropriate.” *See id.* at \*16.

Sumner County certainly does not dispute this Court’s role in the tax appeal process, or to suggest that a remand to BOTA would be improper. However, as of the date of this brief, the following are before the Court:

- Sumner County’s appeal from BOTA’s decision on remand for tax years 2014 and 2015; and
- Kansas Star’s appeal from BOTA’s decision for tax year 2016 and 2017.

These appeals and, likely, any decision by BOTA in future tax appeals, will not turn on BOTA’s evaluation of the persuasiveness of the parties’ competing evidence, but on specific, fundamental questions of law, which can only be resolved by the appellate courts with corresponding instructions on remand to BOTA.

**a. KELA and the management contract require Appellant to maintain the ancillary facilities as a matter of law.**

Resolution of the functional obsolescence issue begins with KELA and Appellant's management contract, the interpretation of which present questions of law. *CoreFirst Bank & Trust v. JHawker Capital, LLC*, 47 Kan.App.2d 755, 762, 282 P.3d 618 (2012).

In Kansas, commercial gambling is a severity 8, nonperson felony. K.S.A. 21-6406(b)(1). Commercial gaming includes operating or receiving earnings from a "gambling place," K.S.A. 21-6406(a)(1)(1), which is "any place, room, building, vehicle, tent or location which is used for any of the following: Making and settling bets; receiving, holding, recording or forwarding bets or offers to bet; conducting lotteries; or playing gambling devices." K.S.A. 21-6403(f).

To state the obvious, a casino is a "gambling place," and operating a casino is therefore ordinarily unlawful. However, the statutory definition of "bet" exempts "[a] lottery operated by the state pursuant to the Kansas lottery act[.]" K.S.A. 21-6403(a)(5), (b). Likewise, "gambling devices" do not include "[a]ny machine . . . used or for use by a licensee of the Kansas racing commission as authorized by law and rules and regulations adopted by the commission or by the Kansas lottery . . ." K.S.A. 21-6403(e)(2)(A). In essence, KELA alters the status quo by making it lawful for four, and only four, private entities to manage a lottery gaming facility, although even then, the State maintains ownership and operational control. In the Kansas Supreme Court's words, "[i]n order for casino gambling to be legal, a casino must be owned and operated by the State of Kansas." *In re Tax Appeal of BHCMC*, 307 Kan. 154, 158, 408 P.3d 103 (2017).

By requiring all contracts to include provisions for ancillary gaming facility operations, the Legislature plainly intended to ward off proposals for the types of *de minimus* casinos that operate out of Morton barn buildings in some areas of the country. *See, e.g., Alain Ellis Living Tr. v. Harvey D. Ellis Living Tr.*, 308 Kan. 1040, 1046, 427 P.3d 9 (2018) ("[T]he best and only safe

rule for ascertaining the intention of the makers of any written law, is to abide by the language they have used.”); *see also*, K.S.A. 74-8734(e) (requiring consideration of the proposed facility as a “tourist and entertainment destination”). Certainly, Appellant’s arena, equine pavilion, and conference center qualify as “ancillary lottery gaming facility operations,” although other amenities could arguably satisfy this definition as well. But, regardless of what the State *might* have deemed acceptable in a hypothetical bid, there is no question that Appellant’s actual contract required it to build the ancillary facilities at issue, and allows the State to keep all of its gaming revenues if the ancillary facilities are not maintained. *See* R. Vol. X, Ex. 610. § 14.

The Kansas Supreme Court has previously explained that “[t]he management agreement between [a gaming facility manager] and the Kansas Lottery is designed to ensure that both parties **comply with the Kansas Constitution and KELA.**” *In re Tax Appeal of BHCMC*, 307 Kan. at 159 (emphasis added). This Court has likewise concluded that “Kansas Star voluntarily included an arena in its bid [for the management contract] and, by doing so, became contractually obliged to build and operate the arena.” *In re Kansas Star Casino, L.L.C. for Tax Year 2014*, 2018 WL 2749734 at \*15. Therefore, “removal of the arena would violate KELA and Kansas Star’s management contract.” *In re Kansas Star Casino, L.L.C. for Tax Year 2015*, 2018 WL 2748748 at \*14; *see also*, *In re Kansas Star Casino, L.L.C. for Tax Year 2014*, 2018 WL 2749734 at \*15 (“[R]emoval of the arena at the casino would result in Kansas Star being in noncompliance with KELA and the management contract, placing its gaming license at risk.”).

Sumner County’s point is simple. In Kansas, gaming is unlawful, unless conducted in accordance with KELA. KELA allows Kansas Star to operate the State’s facility **only** in accordance with the management contract, which required the ancillary facilities be built and maintained. *See* K.S.A. 74-8734(d), (h)(17) (requiring any approved management contract to

“allow the lottery gaming facility manager to manage the lottery gaming facility in a manner consistent with this act and applicable law”) (emphasis added).

**b. KELA and the management contract cannot be disregarded under a USPAP-compliant highest and best use analysis.**

A property’s highest and best use is the “reasonably probable use of property that results in the highest value.” *The Appraisal of Real Estate*, p. 332 (14th ed. 2013) (hereafter, “14th Ed.”), Appendix 1. To be reasonably probable, a use must meet three conditions: (1) physical possibility, (2) legal permissibility, and (3) financial feasibility. *See id.* Any use that fails to meet any of these criteria is eliminated from contention. *See id.* Uses that meet all three are compared for utility, with the use that produces the highest value being the “highest and best” use. *See id.*

Physical possibility and legal permissibility can be evaluated in either order, but both must be analyzed before financial feasibility is considered. *See id.* at p. 335. It is self-evident that it is physically possible to build the existing improvements on the subject property. It would also be possible to build a marijuana dispensary. However, because a marijuana dispensary would not be legally permissible, it can be eliminated without evaluating financial feasibility.

The parties’ disagreement regarding legal permissibility turns on whether recognized appraisal methodology required the appraisers to consider (a) the requirements of Appellant’s actual management contract with the State, as Sumner County asserts, or (b) only the fact that KELA requires a management contract, generally, as Appellant contends.

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